SUMMARIES AND COMMENTARIES

Chapters 1 – 7

Part I – In the Beginning

The time:  1939

Summary

Ben and his family are vacationing.  People are concerned about the political situation in Germany.  A man Ben refers to as Volksdeutsche joins a conversation.  In a letter, the Volksdeutsche’s brother has written that Hitler will soon be in Poland to liberate him.  The man questions why he needs to be liberated.  Rumors are flying about how bad things are for the Jews in Germany.

Ben and his family hire a Pole to take them home.  In the middle of the trip the Pole demands more money.  Ben’s father pays half of what has been asked with the agreement he will pay the other half when they get home.  The Pole is invited in for supper.  After the meal, Ben’s father pays the man what he has promised.  The Pole bows to Ben’s father.  Father says, “No man should bow to another.”

Poland mobilizes for war with Germany.  Ben believes the activities look more like Poland wants to make the city look pretty for the Germans.

With the beginning of the war Ben awakes to the Polish army retreating as the Germans advance into Poland.  Ben and his sister Chaja go out to get food for the Sabbath when a German dive-bomber kills a woman and a child in front of them.  On another occasion, the Hitler Youth harass Ben and his sister and ruin the food (Lokshen Kugel).

The synagogues are bombed and their daily life activities are changing.  Jewish businesses are liquidated and father sends the valuable furs to an aunt in Warsaw thinking they will be safe.  Businesses that still exist are harassed by Hitler Youth.  The businesses are forced to buy pictures of Hitler, and the Hitler Youth take things from the stores without paying.

Ben’s non-Jewish friend, Jurek and his family, begin to talk about “Dirty Jews.”  Ben becomes more aware of discrimination.  His family is forced to move with only a few possessions.  They live with his aunt in a part of the city sectioned off for Jews only.

Once again, Ben’s family is notified they will be forced to move.  Everyone is ordered to leave the apartments and stand outside.  The Schnabel’s son Ronnie runs back in to get a watch and is killed.  His body is dragged outside to the horror of everyone.  As the Jews are marched down the street, Ben notices curtains moving as non-Jewish people are watching them leave.

Commentary:  

The account that Ben gave for his time before the ghetto reflects his life up to age 10.  Truth can be confusing; people’s memories are fallible.  The stories and experiences that the reader receives from Mr. Edelbaum gives insight into the culture, the struggles of human nature to overcome extreme conditions, and survival.  These stories teach us about past events that might be denied or forgotten.  Ben Edelbaum’s memories are his and we can learn from his experiences.  Not all accounts in his book are historically accurate and I have noted these in the summaries and commentaries.

The definition that Ben gives for Volksdeutsche on pages 17 and 36 is not accurate.  A Volksdeutsche is a person who was ethnically German but was living in another country.  Often Volksdeutsche families had lived in the other countries for centuries.

In 1939, 78,000 Jews leave Germany and their valuables are confiscated.  Many believed that although the Germans wanted to segregate them from the rest of society they did not believe that the Nazis wanted to get rid of them altogether.  An Elmo Roper poll claims that 53% of Americans felt Jews were “different” and require “social and economic restrictions.”  A Gallup poll reported that 83% of Americans opposed admission of a larger number of Jewish refugees.

SUMMARIES AND COMMENTARIES

Chapters 8 – 20

Part II – Lodz Ghetto Opened

The time:  1940-1942

Summary

Ben’s family is herded into the Lodz ghetto.  The Nazis choose an Elder of Jews, Mordechaj Chaim Rumkowski.  He is to carry out all orders given by the Germans.  The ghetto has its own economy and social structure—money exchange, post office, judicial system, Jewish police, prison, and newspaper.

Ben believes that “Germans thought that if they incited strife among us, or envy, or had us compete for survival that we would just kill ourselves off.  Then they (Germans) would be absolved from the guilt of eliminating us.”  As a 10-year-old, Ben would not have known this.  He may have overheard people discussing this topic. (Note:  No one knew why he or she was in the ghetto, or what reasons the Nazis had for putting the Jews in the ghetto.)
Yellow armbands are now required for all Jews.  Also, there are rumors that the Germans believe the color yellow is synonymous with untrustworthiness.  (Note: A more reasonable explanation for armbands being yellow dates back to Medieval labeling of Jews.)
Zgierska Street divides the ghetto into two sections.  A bridge is built to keep Jews from setting foot on “Aryan” soil.  A German soldier decides to use the Jews crossing the bridge for target practice.  He is relieved of his duty because it interferes with the war effort.

Rachel and Leibl live next door to Ben, along with their little boy Hershl.  As food gets scarce Leibl volunteers for a work detail in a labor camp in Dabrowka and is never heard from again.  Hershl is the kind of kid that the Germans are seeking in the Aktion - “imperfect.”  He is physically disabled, not productive, and the offspring of Jewish parents.

Penalties for stealing are great.  People sometimes steal from their ressort.  Szoljme Bekerman takes some small pieces of leather to make shoelaces for his wooden shoes.  He is arrested along with his family.  As a punishment he is hanged.

Ben’s father was a Russian World War I veteran.  He had many pictures and memorabilia that he destroyed as the Germans invaded Poland.  Ben’s father is summoned to the “Red House” in October of 1941.  He returns nine days later on a stretcher.

A Kripo looking for furs and money beats Ben’s father.  Father befriends a crying man in the cell and they discuss what the Nazi’s may want with Father.  Later when the man leaves, the other two cellmates tell father he is probably a spy put into their cell to get information from them.  Bruno, the fighter, gives Father a piece of paper and demands that Father take it to a man and get Reichmarks by selling his family’s food until he has enough money.  He is to bring the money to Bruno.  Father stays home for three weeks until he can recuperate enough to return to work.  He never goes back to the Kripo and is never called back.

Ben’s sister Esther marries Szmulek in June 1941.  She enters the hospital to have her baby.  While there, the Nazis come to the hospital and take the new mothers away.  The babies are tossed out of the second floor window.  A young soldier begins a game by catching the babies on a bayonet.  Ben’s family watches in horror knowing that they can do nothing to save Esther or the baby.

Ben and his sister Chaja stop to see his Aunt Syma and Uncle Rachmil.  Ben’s uncle is a baker and will always give them a piece of bread to eat.  It is illegal for Aunt Syma to give them the bread, and Uncle Rachmil’s take-home privileges could be cancelled.  Ben and his sister always keep the secret.

Next door to Ben lives a young girl named Sala.  They become good friends.  He shares his diary and she shares her stamp collection.  A large deportation is announced.  The ghetto is in a panic trying to find a place to hide from the Aktion. 

Rachel comes to Ben’s house with Hershl.  Knowing that Hershl is sure to be taken because of his disability, a plan is created.  Hershl will hide in a sack of potatoes.  Rachel promises Hershl when this is all over she will buy him an egg.  Hershl has been in the ghetto so long he does not even know what an egg or a chicken is.

Ben decides to go see Sala.  With no hope for a future and the large deportation looming, Ben and Sala decide to make love.  Ben returns to his family and his Mother asks the children not to cry and carry on if she is taken away.  Ben’s father becomes angry and yells at his mother for saying such a thing.  His father is hurt because the ghetto life has lowered their resistance to fight, to think, and they are tired of running.

The next morning the family awakens to screams and the shouts of the Germans and Sonderkommando (this word is usually used for people who work in the crematoria in Auschwitz).  Hershl is hidden and the family prepares to go out for the round up.  Ben sees Sala and her parents.  They reach the stairs in time for Ben and Sala to hold hands.  As they assemble, the Sonder go inside to search for anyone hiding.  The Germans go through the line and pull out four people, including Sala.  As the truck drives away, Sala yells out, “I love you!  I’m glad!  I love you!  I’m glad!”  Ben wonders if Sala is speaking to her parents, him, or both.  Hershl survives; he was scared and cramped, but is alive.  It is September 14, 1942.  During this Aktion Ben believes that 15,859 people are taken.

Ben and his sister Chaja go to all the relatives to see who survived the deportation.  Aunt Syma has been taken.  When Ben and his sister go to Uncle Szlojme and Aunt Blima’s house, they meet a boy who is only seven years old, who tells them that his Aunt and Uncle, along with his cousins, have all been taken.  The young boy tells Ben that he hid as the Germans took his whole family.

Ben returns to his apartment to find Dawid distraught and despondent.  He confesses that he was forced to evacuate his in-laws as part of the Aktion.  He tried to get out of it, but his Superior would not allow it.  Ben’s family now knows there is nothing they could have done to save Esther and her baby.

Small pockets of resistance are forming.  A Synagogue is created from a wooden shack.  Mr. Blaugrund has a small group of men coming to his office every day to say Kaddish.  During high holy days Hazan Rasking (title for Cantor of the Synagogue) will sing some Psalms.  Ben’s father organizes a Bar Mitzvah.  As Rachel stands watch outside, Ben’s father recites the appropriate prayers in Hebrew.

Commentary:

With the defeat of Poland, the Nazis launched the policy of publicly identifying the Jews.  Most Polish Jews were forced to wear a white band with the Star of David on their right sleeve on their inner and outer garments. In Lodz, where Ben lived, the Jews wore Yellow Stars of David on their chests.  This made the Jewish people immediately recognizable and easy targets for abuse.  The placement, design and color of the badge vary.

Lodz Ghetto:  To read more see http://www.jewishvirtuallibrary.org/jsource/Holocaust/lodz.html
Lodz is located in western Poland and had the second largest Jewish community in Europe.  On December 10, 1939, Friedrich Übelhör, the Nazi governor of the Kalisz-Lodz District set out the premises for a ghetto in Lodz.  This was to be a holding area for the Jews until the Nazis could find a solution for the “Jewish problem.”  It also made it easier to steal the valuables that the Nazis believed the Jews were hiding.  Lodz’s estimated population was 230,000 living throughout the city.

It was decided that the ghetto would be located in the northeastern section of Lodz.  Many of the Jews were already living in this area.  The Nazi issued a proclamation on January 17, 1940 that the area was rampant with infectious diseases.  This kept the non-Jews out of the area that was to become the ghetto.

In February 1940, the Lodz Ghetto was officially established.  Jews throughout the city were ordered to move to the designated area bringing only what they could carry.  The Jews were crowded into the ghetto with approximately 3.5 people per room.  By April 30, a fence had been built and the ghetto was ordered closed.  May 1, 1940, the ghetto was officially closed.  This meant that nothing was to come into the ghetto (including food, clothing, medicine, etc.) and nothing was to leave.

The Nazis wanted the Jews to pay for their own food, security, sewage removal, and other expenses.  The Nazis decided to make one person in the Ghetto in charge of all the people and they chose Mordechaj Chaim Rumkowski.

The ghettos were originally established as a permanent solution to maintaining control over the Jews and later became a holding area for the deportation of Jews to labor or killing centers.  The overcrowding of the ghettos created environments of hunger, sickness, and despair.  Wooden fences and barbwire permanently sealed the Lodz Ghetto in the spring of 1940.  The mostly wooden, overcrowded houses had no toilets, running water, and no sewage.  The use of electricity was forbidden at night.  Chronic starvation was created due to low food allocation.  The area was rat-infested and dysentery, tuberculosis, and typhus raged.

Rumkowski established currency, a post office and sewage clean-up system.  But the largest problem was food.  With approximately 230,000 people and no farmland, finding food became a big problem.  Rumkowski negotiated with the Nazis.  He wanted to have the Nazis bring in raw materials and have the Jews make finished products.  In exchange, the Nazis would pay for the labor and supply food.  On April 30, 1940, Rumkowski’s proposal was accepted with the exception that the Nazis would only pay for the labor in food not money.  The agreement did not state how much food or how often it would be supplied.

Factories were created and almost everyone worked including the old and the very young.  The Nazis delivered the food in bulk and then Rumkowski was to distribute it.  The food delivered was inadequate and often spoiled.  Ration cards were issued on June 2, 1940.

Food was distributed according to your job.  The lack of food starved people.  Many rumors blamed Rumkowski for the lack of food.  People felt that while the residents became thinner that Rumkowski and his officials seemed to stay fat and healthy.  When people objected, Rumkowski made speeches labeling them traitors and would often punish them and deport them soon after.

The winter of 1941-42 was very harsh.  Coal and wood were rationed and people began to look for wood anywhere.  Furniture, fences, outhouses, and buildings were torn down to provide heat and allow people to cook food and survive.

Deportations began on January 6, 1942.  Approximately 1000 people per day left for transport.  These people were taken to Chelmno death camp and gassed by carbon monoxide in gas vans.  By January 19, 1942, 10,003 people had been murdered.  From February 22-April 2, 1942, the Nazis had deported 34,073 people from Lodz Ghetto.  Many people chose to be deported because they were offered a meal if they volunteered.

Spiritual Resistance:

In this section of the book small pockets of resistance are forming in the ghetto.  There were many forms of resistance, but one very important one was spiritual resistance.  For more information, see: 

http://www.ushmm.org/wlc/article.php?lang=en&ModuleId=10005416.
Spiritual resistance refers to attempts by individuals to maintain their humanity, personal integrity, dignity, and sense of civilization in the face of Nazi attempts to dehumanize and degrade them.  Spiritual resistance may refer to the refusal to have one’s spirit broken in the midst of the most horrible degradation.  Cultural and educational activities, maintenance of community documentation, and clandestine religious observances are three examples of spiritual resistance.

SUMMARIES AND COMMENTARIES

Chapters 21 – 25

Part III – Ghetto Structured for Survival

The time:  1941-1942

Summary

The most envied position in the ghetto is that of the person who dishes out the soup (Wydzielaczka).  A gong announces lunchtime, and all workers line up for a ladle of soup.  The workers lean against the building and eat the soup while it’s hot.  It gives the people a sense of eating something and appeases the gnawing hunger pangs.

Ben’s ressort is given a contract by the Germans to make and repair fur coats for the soldiers on the Russian front.  The coats come back damaged from the fighting, some with large holes and bloodstains.  On one occasion a severed arm is found.

The young workers become aware of another Aktion against young people.  A plan is formed to create a fur coat for the wife of Hans Biebow, the German commissioner of the ghetto, for her birthday.  When the coat is finally finished, Ben takes it to the office so that the coat can be given to Frau Biebow.  The workers who created the fur coat are sent to Heim.  Heim is a convalescent institution that is used to reward people for special achievements.  The group receives good food, milk, beef, and clean beds.  Ben and the group spend seven days in the Heim, and the Aktion against the young people never occurs.

Back at the ghetto, Ben is so hungry he cannot fall asleep.  He remembers a time when he wanted to play outside instead of eating.  Ben dreams of a hot Kaiser roll dripping with butter.  Ben’s family has love and respect for each other.  Their mother divides the food portions equally.  Ben’s family is in a unique position; most families are not intact.  Many are less fortunate, as some families have to fight, grab and steal every morsel of food.  Food dominates every conversation in the ghetto.

Food rations are calculated to give the ghetto residents just enough calories necessary to keep them alive.  This creates huge vitamin and mineral deficiencies.  At one point, Ben’s family considers eating rats.  A shipment of horsemeat is brought to the ghetto, which helps people survive.  Vegetable gardens are planted but people are so hungry that they will steal the plants before they mature.  A co-op is started and night watchmen are set to protect the crops.  The project is organized and efficient but the night watchman does not distribute food equally.  People begin to plant gardens in baby carriages, which can be brought indoors and protected from intruders.

Bread is issued from a bakery.  People are given a ten-day supply. Without a great deal of willpower, people will eat all of the bread in one or two days, then starve for the remainder of the time.  If someone dies, some people will keep the body around until they get the dead person’s ration of bread for the week.  One young man becomes so desperate for bread he hits a girl over the head with a brick.  When found, the boy is slumped over in an alley with his mouth full of bread and a small piece in his hand.  The death is ruled “death by suffocation.”

A group called the “White Brigade” has the job of unloading sacks of flour.  Some begin to steal flour and sell it for things they don’t have.  They accomplish this by puncturing the sacks and sifting off a pound into their pockets.  They rub the sack material and the fibers join back together.  After several months the men are caught and sent to Auschwitz.  (Note: It is highly unlikely that the Jews knew they were being sent to Auschwitz at the time..  Mr. Edelbaum had this information after the Holocaust.)
Ben and others sell saccharin tablets or iris. They trade for slices of bread or soup.  Other people sell hard chunks of candy or oleo.

Potatoes arrive in the winter of 1942.  But time passes and the potatoes are not distributed.  Later it is found that the potatoes froze and then spoiled because the leaders were irresponsible and caused delays.

Commentary

Ghetto life was extremely stressful. The chapters represented here are Ben’s perceptions of what that stress does to a family situation.

It was an important job to be the person to dish out the soup (Wydzielaczka).  A person would have the advantage of getting the best soup with some nutrition in the bottom of the pot.  The person would also be in the position of giving others the nutrition they would need to survive.  This would be a good position for a person to trade needed nutrition for articles someone else may have, such as bread, clothing, medicine, and black market items.

SUMMARIES AND COMMENTARIES

Chapters 26 – 31

Part IV – Ghetto Life Deteriorating

The time:  1942-1944

Summary

Ben’s family lives in a one-room apartment.  His mother places food in a small pot, covering it carefully with a plate.  It is wrapped in a towel to keep it hot and is inserted into a bed to keep it warm.  Whoever gets home late from working the night shift will have a warm meal and a warm bed.

One night Ben hears his mother and father discussing how skinny he is.  His father says that it is important that his only son survive.  Ben was not aware of how much they worry about him.

During the winter of 1942, Ben discovers an empty house.  Having very little fuel to keep them warm, Ben goes to the house and brings back a drawer and a chair.  Ben’s mother immediately starts a fire to warm the apartment.  Ben decides to replace a wooden board in the picket fence hoping that no one else will notice that the house is vacant.  As he is getting ready to replace the board, two people discover him and accuse him of stealing.  The next day people strip the house of all wood except for the framing.  The winter of 1942 is very cold.  Ben decides to remove a leg from their table for fuel.  The table is able to lean against the wall.  Before too long, Ben’s family begins to tear up anything that is made of wood to keep warm.

Sanitation is a big problem in the ghetto.  Head lice and body lice are everywhere.  The lack of soap and boiling water makes it hard to keep from getting the lice.  Ben and his family work every evening to get the lice out of their clothes.  The ghetto residents lack vitamins and minerals for proper growth and to keep a healthy body.  People eat orts and beet tops to try to get rid of hunger pains.  The people begin to get bloated bellies and filled bladders.  At night people use buckets and pots to go to the bathroom because it is too cold to go outside.  In the morning people meet in the hallway emptying their buckets.

Once a month the Fekalists come to empty the outhouses.  They push and pull a wagon full of human excrement—every one of these people dies.

There is a perception that the people in the ghetto are divided into two groups: the haves and the have-nots.  The “have-nots” wear dirty, loose-fitting clothing often infested with lice and anything for headgear to keep them warm.  Shoes may be wooden, or rags wrapped around their feet.  They carry a tin plate and a spoon attached by a wire.  The “have-nots” are starving people.

The “haves” (Szyszki) are people who have some influence in the ghetto.  They either work at food distribution or know someone who does.  They receive special allotments of food, fuel, clothing, and services at the expense of the “have-nots.”  The “haves” actions focus on “live, live better, live longer.”  Men wear light-colored sun-visor hats called Litzipate Hitl, dark, three-quarter length sleeved, well-tailored jackets with wide lapels and a waistband in black, gray-colored riding britches, and black military boots.  Women wear excessive make-up and are dressed similar to the men.  Instead of the riding britches they wear knee-length skirts.  (Note: Whatever a person brought into the ghetto was all that a person had.  When their clothes wore out most people could not replace them.  Those who dealt in the black-market could trade for clothing.  People who had more were envied, and the above description of these people is Mr. Edelbaum’s perception)
Ben has the dreaded Odwapnienie Kosci, a decalcification of the bones.  This disease creates pain in the joints and makes them no longer function.  Ben worries that he will no longer be productive and will be deported.  Ben’s mother also has the disease.  Chaja and Ben go to see an old acquaintance, Mr. Czarnobroda, to request some mineral oil.  Few people, including Ben’s family, can afford the medicine, but Ben and his sister are hoping for a special favor.  Ben and Chaja are given two syringes for Mother and told to come back at any time for more.  Mother never allows Chaja to go back; she is afraid her daughter may make a “sacrifice” out of love for her mother and urgent need for the medication.

Rumkowski is ordered to ship 150 more Jews per day out of the ghetto for “special assignment.”  He convinces the Nazis to let him pick who should go.  (Note: Mr. Edelbaum would not have been aware of the exact number.) April 1944, hundreds of men, women, and children are taken from their families.  A man runs down the street yelling that the Sonder (special Jewish Police) are coming to take more people.  As Ben’s family prepares, Rachel runs in with Hershl.  He is now too big to hide in a sack of potatoes.  The family tries to think of a place to hide Hershl, but before they find one they are ordered outside.  Ben hears screams coming from the apartment.  To save Hershl from the deportation, Rachel kills Hershl and then herself.

Commentary

It is important for the reader to realize that body lice carry typhus. Ben’s family tried to rid themselves of lice by picking them off their clothing and killing them.

Typhus:  Epidemic typhus was a constant problem in the ghettos and camps. It is transmitted by body lice and symptoms include headache, chills, fever, prostration, confusion, photophobia, vomiting, rash (generally starting on trunk. Ghetto inhabitants did not have medicine to treat the disease and often died.  Source on Typhus: Center for Disease Control – www.cdc.gov 
Dysentery:  Dysentery is an acute bacterial infection of the gut usually causing watery diarrhea.  It appears in all parts of the world and affects all people.  Dysentery is highly infectious.  Outbreaks occur more readily in areas of overcrowding, or where questionable hygiene practice occurs.  
Body Lice:  
Body lice are parasitic insects that live on the body and in the clothing or bedding of infested humans. Body lice infestations spread rapidly under crowded conditions where hygiene is poor and there is frequent contact among people. Epidemics of typhus are caused by body lice. Source: Center for Disease Control – www.cdc.gov 
Rachel and Hershl:  By killing Hershl and then herself, Rachel made a choiceless choice.  She chose to end Hershl’s life instead of having the Nazis murder him.  Rachel chose to end her own life instead of living without her son and husband.

Jewish women during the Holocaust revealed their strength in the face of horrible conditions.  During the Nazi occupation of their countries, the women tried to keep their families safe and create a sense of normalcy.  When women and children arrived at the camps, the first thing the Nazis did was decide who was to be selected for work or for death.  Women who were pregnant or carrying small children were automatically selected for death.  While suicide and murder is not normally seen as a form of resistance, many felt that if they were going to die, they were not going to die at the hands of the Nazis.  Their last act of defiance was to die on their own terms.

SUMMARIES AND COMMENTARIES

Chapters 32 – 42

Part V – The Last Trip

The time:  August 1944

Summary

Hans Biebow comes to the ghetto and makes a speech about “resettling.”  His actual orders are to murder all the Jews in the ghetto. (Note: Mr. Edelbaum could not have known this at the time. This is knowledge he gained after the Holocaust.)  In his speech, Biebow promised all the starving Jews a whole loaf of bread and a pound of sugar.  Thousands of Jews had already been deported and food is no longer coming into the ghetto.  Rumkowski drives around urging Jews to participate.  He tells the Jews the ghetto is no longer safe, the Russians are coming and they will be killed.  On August 14, 1944, Ben’s family decides to go.  Ben is to stay and try to hide.  Many who hide (Note: approximately 877) survive to be liberated by the Russians.

Ben’s family boards the trolley for the railroad station.  On the way, Ben jumps off and hides in a ditch.  He falls asleep and is awakened by a soldier with a German shepherd.  Ben is taken to the depot and is put in a cattle car where he rejoins his family.

Two hours into the train ride people begin to have diarrhea and cramps.  They were not used to so much food.  Some people die from overeating.  Without ventilation and bathroom facilities the cattle car becomes unbearable.

At 5:00 a.m. (Note: Mr. Edelbaum would not have known the exact time) the train stops and people are commanded to get out.  It has been so crowded that the people who have died have remained upright in the car.  When the doors open they fall out to the ground.  Approximately half of the 100 people in the car died.

Ben sees prisoners dressed in blue and white stripes with round-stripped hats and wooden shoes.  A barbwire fence surrounds long rows of buildings.  On the fence is a small sign which reads Auschwitz.

The people from the ghetto are ordered to take all their belongings and leave the cattle cars.  The Canadians ask that all belongings be put in a pile.  The Jews are marched through the gate with a sign over it, “Arbeit Macht Frei” (Work will set you free). (Note: For more information on Canada visit: http://www.remember.org/komski/komski-drawings1-002.html)
A Canadian speaks to Ben and says, “I wish that I could put my heart into yours.”  This does not mean much to Ben now, but later he learns that the Canadians are people chosen by the Nazis to help keep order and maintain operations.  They are well-fed and supplied with cigarettes and liquor.  The Canadians have to do gruesome tasks.  At times they have to put their own family members in the gas chambers, remove their bodies, and put them into the crematoria.  The Canadians are told that in six months they, too, will go to the gas chambers.  After these horrible tasks, many Canadians are willing to die at the end of their six months.  Some commit suicide before their time is up.
Ben’s group prepares to go through selections.  Children are taken from their mothers and family members try to say goodbye.  People have heard about Auschwitz.  They know about the gas chambers and crematoria.  They also know about the process of selections.  (Note: It is unlikely that Mr. Edelbaum knew at the time what was going to happen.)  Ben stands in line with the men.  He knows it is important to be seen as a potential laborer.  Ben notices that Mengele is swinging his thumb one to the left, then one to the right.  Because of this method, Ben trades places with the man directly behind him.  Ben and his father go to the left and survive the selection.  The other group is marched to the gas chambers.

The men are forced to undress and fold their clothes neatly in a pile.  Their entire body is shaved, at times inflicting painful nicks with the shears.  Ben’s genital area is cut, and he stands bleeding.  His father calls his name, not able to recognize him.  The men are then led into a disinfecting room where they are doused with a solution of calcium chloride.  (Note: Mr. Edelbaum did not know at the time what chemical they were using.)  The pain is excruciating, especially where the men are cut from the shaving.  The men are sent next to the “outfitting” room.  They are given a suit jacket, a pair of slacks, and a pair of shoes.  The clothes are either a size too big or a size too small.  The men are given no undergarments or socks.  All jackets are painted with a yellow line down the sides.  This marking identifies them as “temporary prisoners.”

As “temporary prisoners,” Ben and his father are put on hold.  There are many more people arriving into the camp than can be murdered.  (Note: Knowledge Mr. Edelbaum gained after the war.)  “Temporary prisoners” are not given prison uniforms or tattooed with a number.  Ben’s group is put into a barracks where they meet another man who demands they give up their valuables.  He uses a flashlight to look into their mouths and probes their rectums for hidden valuables.

The men are taken into another barracks that had once been used as a horse stable.  At 8:30 p.m., (Note: Times may not be accurate) Ben’s group is introduced to a Kapo and other assistants.  The men are not given food or water and are forced to lie on a bare concrete floor.  They are packed like sardines, on their sides, facing the door and fitting one against the other.  Anyone disobeying is beaten.  Ben has just spent his first day in Auschwitz II – Birkenau.

The next morning the men are ordered outside the barracks at 4:30 a.m. (Note: Times may not be accurate.)  They are given coffee and taken to the washroom.  The men are given two or three minutes to get cleaned up.  Constant thirst plagues the men.   There are only small droplets of water that come from the pipes.  There is never enough to get clean or enough to drink.  There is very little for the men to do since the work has been given to the established prisoners.

Ben notices a barracks where the prisoners are clean-shaven and wear traditional “striped” uniforms.  Their barracks have windows and screened-in porches.  The prisoners sit in chairs and look relaxed and content.  Ben asks why these prisoners are here.  It is rumored that they are here either to have a “model compound” for visiting dignitaries (like the Red Cross), or are actually being fattened up for the kill—their physical condition being brought up so they can be used for medical experiments.

Ben is called to lunch with a shrill whistle.  The Kapos have wooden bowls that are filled and given to the first five prisoners.  Each prisoner takes three sips on the first round, two sips on the second round, and one sip per man on the third round.  No seconds are given, and the leftovers are taken into the Kapo’s living quarters.
The days drag on with nothing to do but wait.  Sometimes people need to use the latrines in the daytime.  The latrine is four feet wide and two feet tall, with two rows of “seats” cut out of the wooden top.  It has about 40 seats in each row.  The tops of the seats are filthy with fresh or dried excrement of those who are suffering from dysentery.  Some people are interrupted and driven out by the Kapo for spending too much time there.  Ben is caught in the latrine and beaten over his arms and back.

Ben speaks to some women on the other side of a fence.  He realizes they are from the same ghetto as he and arrived about the same time.  He has some hope his mother and Chaja are still alive.

Ben hears a rumor that the Elder of the Jews Rumkowski has arrived at Auschwitz.  August 27, 1944, is Ben’s twelfth day at Auschwitz.  The barracks next to Ben’s is sent to the gas chambers.  Ben hears that Rumkowski did arrive.  He is told that Rumkowski was taken to Auschwitz by limousine under heavy guard.  He did not know where he was going and thought he was being taken to a place of safety.  The rumor is that Rumkowski is told he is at Auschwitz, a place where he has sent thousands to their deaths.  Ben is told that men Rumkowski sent to Auschwitz made him lay down on the ground, naked, and roll.  Two lines were formed.  As Rumkowski rolls between the lines, he is kicked in the groin, stomach, and head.  Near death, he is thrown into the gas chamber, then the crematoria.

Ben remembers his last meal with his family and realizes how much he misses his family.  After lunch the SS enters the barracks and Ben realizes that they are to be sent to the gas chamber.  The prisoners are marched to a building and told to undress.  A man marks some of the prisoners with an “X” to signify which of them have gold teeth or fillings.  The Germans and Canadians will then separate these bodies after the gassing and remove their teeth.  There is one wheelbarrow full of towels and one of soap bars marked “R.J.F.”  Ben believes this soap is made from murdered Jews and that R.J.F. stands for Rein Juden Fets (Pure Jewish Fat).  In the ghetto the Germans had often included a bar of this soap with the rations, as well. 
(Note: See these sources on Jewish soap: http://www.chgs.umn.edu/Educational_Resources/Newsletter/The_Genocide_Forum/Yr_1/Year_1__No__6/year_1__no__6.html
http://www.nizkor.org/features/techniques-of-denial/soap-01.html )

Before they are given the soap and towel, an SS man comes running up.  An officer is given a note that says these men are to build a concentration camp.  The Canadian says that 500 men have been saved.  They will get prison uniforms and be assigned a number.  Ben is told never to forget his number.  He is given No. 96297.  (Note: Mr. Edelbaum is given a number, but is never tattooed)
Ben has an inverted yellow triangle on his uniform.  He believes this means political prisoner.  Ben says that green triangles are for Gypsies, and red is for criminals and homosexuals. (Note: Mr. Edelbaum is mistaken about what color the badges were.)  Ben’s group is transported again.  Of the 500 men on the journey only 400 survive.  (Note: Numbers may not be accurate)   Most die due to exhaustion, heat, and general debilitation.

Ben’s group arrives at Hurlach.  They are transferred to trucks and driven to a forest area.  Ben’s number is called and he almost forgets to answer to his number, 96297.  Every five men are given one loaf of bread to share.  The prisoners are told this is the only piece of free bread they will receive.  The prisoners will have to work for bread—no work, no bread.  Ben realizes that they have arrived one day early at camp.  If the Auschwitz authority had known they could travel in two days to the camp, they would have been sent to the gas chamber as intended, instead of spared.  (Note: Mr. Edelbaum is speculating; he had no way to know this.)  The men spend the next three weeks digging postholes, putting up posts, installing barbwire, erecting watchtowers and gallows, building barracks, and carrying tons of sod.  The sod is used to camouflage the camp and make it look like a green pasture from an aerial view.

By the end of November 1944, there are approximately 4,500 men in the camp.  Ben and his father are separated for the first time.  The new camp doesn’t have a gas chamber or crematoria.  The camp does have a gallows and punishment bench.  Ben’s father is beaten when he accidentally stands out of line beside Ben.  Ben pretends not to know his father so that they are not sent to separate camps.

The day at the camp starts at 3:30 a.m.  Every prisoner is accounted for.  Roll call lasts until 7:00 a.m.  The men are divided into groups of 500 and marched off to work.  At times the men are hired by companies or a farmer.  Ben is working on a farm digging potatoes with his bare hands.  He spots a pot of boiling water with potatoes.  As he grabs one, the wife of the farmer yells at him and tells him the potato is for her pigs.

Construction site work is very dangerous.  The men are so skinny that bones rub on the metal rods.  Burlap is used to pad the shoulder from the pain.  Men are given evergreen soup for lunch.  It is made of grass and water.  At the camp the soup is somewhat better.  Supper is eaten standing up.  There is no mess hall.  (Note: Tthere were no mess halls in any camp.)  Sometimes when people go into the barracks to eat, a hand will reach out and grab whatever potato or meat may be in the soup.  In the darkness, the thief cannot be recognized.  Prisoners are given bread at the end of the day.

One day returning from work, Ben sees a potato lying in the field.  He puts the potato in his pocket thinking he has not been seen.  Back at camp Ben is ordered to the front and punished by whipping for taking the potato.  Ben passes out after the ninth lash and spends four days in the barracks unable to work.  He is given no soup, but is given bread.

November 1944, Ben goes to his father.  His father is tired and weak.  His cheeks are puffed up, and you can hardly see his eyes.  Ben’s father refuses to eat any bread.  Ben’s father is nearly 54 years old, and looks 70.  The next morning, Ben goes to his father again.  He looks even worse.  Ben’s father reaches out for him; his father holds his hand as if for the last time.  Ben spends the whole day carrying wet cement sacks.  When he returns, he finds his father has died.  Ben is 15 years old and feels entirely alone.

Ben is in a camp with men who have physical and emotional needs to be filled.  A pipel (young male prisoner) is one who is willing to have homosexual relations with the Kapo.  Among other pipel duties were: shine the shoes, wash shirts, and make the bed.  Ben finds favor with Zho-Zho, whose pipel is not willing to perform the daytime duties (laundry, shining shoes, etc.), so Ben is chosen to do these duties.  He receives an extra portion of bread and is “shielded” from immediate dangers.

Prisoners take blankets and clothes from people as soon as they die.  In winter of 1944, the death rate is very high, two to four prisoners per day die in the barracks.  Ben becomes sick with typhus.  He is isolated and he spends four weeks in the barracks.  Most of this time he spent in a coma.  As Ben recovers, he finds that Zho-Zho has been taking care of him.  Bread has been saved for Ben while he is sick, and he finally has all the bread he can eat in one meal.

Ben returns to work in February only to lose one of his shoes in a muddy field.  He spends two months with only one shoe.  Ben finally gets another pair of shoes from a prisoner who dies.  This prisoner was a doctor before the war and suffers from an overactive thyroid.  To end his suffering, the man slits his wrists.  It takes him two days to die.

Men with blankets guard them with their lives.  The blankets are infested with lice.  Every other Sunday the prisoners spend half of a day delousing their blankets.

Spring arrives at the camp, and sanitation worsens as the snow melts.  Ben finds a small paper sack that has been tossed out of a window.  He finds the crust of two slices of bread.  Ben begins to go to the same window during lunch each day.  He learns that an elderly soldier (Note: Wehrmacht) has lost his son who was about Ben’s age in the war.  Ben realizes that the war will soon be over.

Ben sees searchlights scanning the skies at night and dogfights in the daytime.  Ben has been imprisoned, tortured, degraded, and starved for five and a half years.  On April 25, 1945, the prisoners are told they are leaving the camp, and that those who cannot travel will have a wagon sent for them.  The approximately 1,500 prisoners who were not able to leave are burned alive in the barracks.  (Note: This is an example of the SS carrying out their duty even as the Allies advance.)  A train is to take Ben and his group to Dachau.  One half hour later, an Allied bomb hits the train.  As the prisoners jump off the train, they are shot by the guards.  Ben manages to run into the woods.  He realizes that he is wounded.  Ben walks until he finds a farmer that gives him medical aid and food.  Ben is not allowed to stay long because the SS are looking for escaped prisoners.  Ben walks on, trying to reach a nearby hospital.  Ben sees Nazi uniforms folded and laying up against a tree.  The soldiers have realized that the war is over and have deserted.  Ben hears tanks approaching and lies down in a ravine.  Ben faints from exhaustion.

Dr. Greenberg rescues Ben the next morning.  The hospital staff takes care of his wounds and gives him a bath.  He is fed and put into a clean bed.  The experience is too much for him and he passes out.  The good beds in the hospital are given to Allied soldiers and survivors.  The SS prisoners are in the basement sleeping on mattresses filled with straw.  The SS are under armed guard.   Allied soldiers are standing guard to protect the patients upstairs as well as to protecting them from reprisal by the survivors.  Ben weighs sixty pounds.  He has yellow jaundice, a deteriorated gall bladder, and twenty-two teeth that are decaying from malnutrition.  By June of 1945, Ben is able to take short strolls in a wheelchair.  Orchestras tour the hospitals where survivors are recuperating.

As Ben continues to recover, he realizes how alone he is in the world.  At night, Ben relives horrible moments in the camps.  Ben begins to miss his family and becomes homesick.  He knows that his father and Esther are dead, but what about his mother, Mirla, and Chaja?

The doctor decides that he has done all he can for Ben and they send him to a DP (Displaced Persons) camp.  Ben is told the main function of the army and the U.N.R.R.A. is to bring all of the survivors closer together.  Ben is sent to Feldafing, near Munich.

Commentary
Ben’s family decides to split up instead of all of them going to the transports.  They made the decision to have Ben try to hide.  By doing this they hoped one person out of the family would survive and the family name would live on.  Also, Ben’s father is concerned there will be no more family to say the prayers for the dead, or Kaddish.  In most cases, entire families were murdered.  

Canadian is camp slang for the camp workers who sorted through the Jewish belongings for the Nazis.  They were not people from Canada.  The Canadians were also not the Sonderkommando who worked the crematoria.  Prisoners believed that Canada was the land of milk and honey.  Since these prisoners could sometimes smuggle extra clothing or food, and were relatively better off than other prisoners, they were nicknamed Canadians.  
In chapter thirty-five, Ben notices some prisoners in a barracks that were getting what he perceived as “special treatment.”  Ben’s fellow prisoners had several theories as to why these prisoners were being treated so well, but the people they saw were actually medical experiment victims, just as Ben surmised.

In chapter thirty-six, Ben recounts a story he heard of how Rumkowski met his fate.  There are many different and conflicting rumors and it is important to understand why Ben felt the way he did about this man.  While we do not know how Rumkowski died, we do know that he arrived at Auschwitz on a deportation train (not in a limo) and it is probably that, like other Jews, he died in the gas chambers.

The RJF soap is a Holocaust myth.  In fact, we know that human soap was not made during the Holocaust.  In discussing the soap taken from Auschwitz, Michael Berenbaum explained, “The United States Holocaust Memorial Museum tested several bars of soap reported to be composed of human fat but no such fat was found.”  (Nizkor, 2004)  Although human soap was not actually made, many people believed it at the time.

Testimony of one British POW from the Nuremberg documents mentions the soap at Auschwitz, “The German civilians often threatened the inmates that they would be gassed and made into soap.  We were told that quite a few times by the inmates and I personally heard the German civilians make those threats many times.  Also, I hear the Germans joking among themselves about the same thing…”

The RJF initials on the soap probably stood for the name of the factory that produced the soap.  There was a German agency responsible for the wartime production and distribution of soap and washing products, the “Reich Center for Industrial Fat Provisioning” (Reichsstekke fur Industrielle Fettversorgung”).  RJF soap was a poor quality substitute that contained no fat at all, human or otherwise.  (Nizkor, 2004)  It is understandable that Ben would believe this rumor.  He had probably heard from inmates and camp workers about it many times.

Ben and his father believe that they were about to be gassed.  It is here that the reader should understand that survival was largely due to luck and circumstances.  Ben and his father survived as long as they did due to many instances of chance: Ben changed places with the man in the line and was not selected; they were never formally processed into camp; they were removed from the gas chambers and transferred out of camp…

In Chapter forty-one, Ben refers to tanks with stars on them.  These were Americans as Ben had guessed.   His reference to “ol’ ‘Blood and Guts’” (General Patton) is knowledge he acquired later.  Mr. Edelbaum could not have known of him at this time.

The Nazis killed approximately 1.5 million Jewish children during the Holocaust.  They also subjected them to countless situations of torture and experimentation.  The family that usually protects children was destroyed and they could not protect or provide for their children.  Thousands of children died of starvation and disease.  Since children served no productive role in the Nazis policy of the “Final Solution” most were immediately murdered as they arrived at the camps.  Some youngsters, such as Ben, who could pass for an adult, survived the selection process.

American involvement in the war did not begin until December 11, 1941.  By then, hundreds of thousands of Jews had been murdered by the Einsatzgruppen.  Gassing operations had also started.  The American public was strongly anti-immigration, antisemitic, and isolationist.  Not until the summer of 1944 did the United States make a special provision to bring Jewish refugees to America.

Food, shelter, and sanitary facilities were entirely inadequate in the camps.  The Germans attempted to destroy the Jews heart, mind, and soul.  Poor living conditions were one way to degrade the Jewish people.  Camp barracks were running rivers of filth, filled with dirt, vomit, disease, and excrement.  (The Holocaust Chronicle, p 532)  The poor sanitary conditions led to many prisoners getting dysentery and/or typhus.

SUMMARIES AND COMMENTARIES
Chapters 43 – 48

Part VI – The Aftermath

The time:  1945

Summary

At Feldafing, Ben finds that his new quarters were at one time a Hitler Youth camp.  http://www.ushmm.org/wlc/article.php?lang=en&Moduleld=10007030  Other DPs are interested in Ben’s arrival. Everyone is looking for news of relatives that may have survived the Holocaust.  Ben realizes that many survivors hid during the war in the forests and fought the Nazis.  They performed countless acts of sabotage as part of the resistance movement.  The task of the U.N.R.R.A. was to repatriate the survivors.  The non-Jewish French, Yugoslavs, Poles, Russians, and Czechs had something waiting for them when they left camps. Jewish survivors could not go back.  In Kielce, Poland, a handful of Jews returned to where they had lived and the National Army marched them out to a field and shot them. Antisemitism is still very strong in Europe. (Note: the National Army was not involved in the pogrom. To read about Kielce visit http://www.jewishvirtuallibrary.org/jsource/Holocaust/Kielce.html)  
Every person in the DP camp is registered with first, last, and middle name.  Also, the names of any relatives that they may be looking to find are included.  The “master list” was sent to every camp in Germany—soon some people were finding each other.

The morning of Yom Kippur in 1945 Ben receives a visitor.  His sister Chaja and her fiancé Leo have found him and they are reunited.  Chaja tells Ben that Mother and Mirla had been sent to the gas chambers the first day at Auschwitz.  Chaja was sent to Stuthoff, a concentration camp, and spent the rest of the war there.  Instead of letting the Allies liberate the camp, the SS took the women to a port in Kiel.  The women were sailed into the Atlantic Ocean (Note: actually the Baltic Sea) and forced to jump overboard or be shot.  The British Navy came to their rescue and the R.A.F. (Royal Air Force) strafed the boat.  Out of 600 women, only 150 survived.  Ben and Chaja decided to move to Zeilsheim.

October 5, 1945, Chaja, Leo, and Ben arrive in Zeilsheim.  Ben sees a newly erected monument to commemorate the 6 million Jews who had been murdered by the Nazis.  Ben goes to the Jewish Committee to look for a job. He is told that people render their services free of charge in return for services received.  Ben meets an old friend from Feldafing - Dora.  She tells Ben about her experience.  She is the sole survivor of a family of seven.  When the Allies were approaching the camp, Dora and the other prisoners were given a loaf of bread.  An SS officer warned the starving women not to eat the bread.  The hungry women were confused about what to do.  The Second British Army arrived, and told the women that the bread contained large quantities of strychnine. (Note: The story of poisoned bread is a Holocaust myth.) Later Dora learned she was in the camp the same time as Anne Frank.

Ben gets a job with food distribution.  In November 1945, Leo and Chaja are married.  In December 1945, Ben learns that Patton died in an accident.  In 1946, Ben waits for news of relocation.  In January, Ben has a gall bladder attack.  He is admitted to the hospital, but once again is told he is too young to have surgery.  Ben is given medicine and a diet of fresh strawberries drenched in sugar.  The doctor tells Ben that the sugar and vitamins contained in the berries are good for the blood and would help with the jaundice.

Ben is registered to go to England and the United States.  In February, Leo finds an uncle and an aunt in the U.S.  The relatives live in Kansas City, Missouri.  They provide sponsorship for Leo and Chaja.  On October 5, Dora and Ben are married.  Ten days later Ben learns that he and Dora must separate.  A regulation of the American Joint Distribution Committee states that they cannot be married and immigrate to the United States.  Ben and Dora take up separate living quarters.  They are instructed to meet with the American consulate.  The consulate completes paperwork.  Dora and Ben are taken to the Emigration Assembly and transferred to Bremen.

In December 1946, Ben and Dora spend Chanukah at Bremen.  On January 2, 1947, Ben and Dora board the SS Ernie Pyle to begin their trip to the United States.  During the voyage a storm blew up and everyone on board was seasick.  Ben decides to write down everything he remembers so if he should die, someone might find his notes and the world would know what had happened.  On January 16, the people on the ship could see the Statue of Liberty.  Upon reaching solid ground, Ben and Dora kissed the ground.

Epilogue

Ben and Dora went through a processing program.  They were given clothing, which is one of their most vivid memories after wearing filthy rags for so long.  Chaja arranged for Ben and Dora to come to Kansas City.  Dora is introduced as Ben’s cousin.  Ben had to apply for a work permit since he was only 16.  Ben found this ironic, since he had been working for survival in the camps.  He found a job and attended night classes at the Jewish Community Center learning English and American Government.  The family that Dora was staying with wanted to adopt her, so Ben and Dora had to tell them they were married.  Ben and Dora were remarried and became citizens in 1952.  When asked at his hearing what flew over the courthouse, a nervous Ben replied, “Pigeons.”  The amused judge had to remind Ben that it was the flag of the United States.

Commentary

Luck:

When speaking to survivors, most will tell you that Holocaust survival always had to do with luck.  Lucky escapes from illnesses, starvation, work, and, most miraculous of all, escape from death.  Ben was lucky when an old soldier took pity on him and gave him the food that helped him survive.  When he first escaped from the deportations and was found by an SS officer he could easily have been shot instead of taken to the trains.  He was luckily put on the same train as his family.  Elie Wiesel, the author of Night, believes that surviving the Holocaust is a staggeringly unlikely coincidence; a stroke of sheer luck…Wiesel wants to make the point that his own survival is a result of luck and coincidence.  
Prejudice and hatred toward Jews did not end with the defeat of the Nazis.  Few Polish Jews survived the death camps, and even those few who did survive were greeted with violent hostility when they returned to their homes.  (The Holocaust Chronicle, p 647)  Ben speaks about the Jews going home in the Kielce pogrom.  This pogrom did not happen until July 1946.  There was a long history of antisemitism in Poland, even before Hitler.

In chapter forty-five, Dora is telling Ben of her experience.  Rumors ran rampant in the camps.  It is understandable why an inmate would question whether the bread given to them had been poisoned.  The British, however, did not test the bread, and so did not find it had been poisoned.  It is important to discuss why the Nazis might have made up this story, especially when they had already lost the war.  Have the students analyze the psychological torment of the Nazis.  The starving inmates were given bread and then told it was poisoned…as a prisoner do you choose hunger or death?

